The linguistic background to SE Asian sea nomadism



Chapter in: *Sea nomads of SE Asia past and present*. Bérénice Bellina, Roger M. Blench & Jean-Christophe Galipaud eds. Singapore: NUS Press.

Roger Blench McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research University of Cambridge Department of History, University of Jos Correspondence to: 8, Guest Road Cambridge CB1 2AL United Kingdom Voice/ Ans (00-44)-(0)1223-560687 Mobile worldwide (00-44)-(0)7847-495590 E-mail rogerblench@yahoo.co.uk http://www.rogerblench.info/RBOP.htm

This printout: Cambridge, March 21, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	3
2. The broad picture	3
3. The Samalic [Bajau] languages	4
4. The Orang Laut languages	5
5. The Andaman Sea languages	6
6. The Vezo hypothesis	9
7. Should we include river nomads?	10
8. Boat-people along the coast of China	10
9. Historical interpretation	11
References	13

TABLES

	7
Table 2. Sailfish in Moklen/Moken 7	ſ
Table 3. Big-eye scad in Moklen/Moken 8	3
Table 4. Lake \rightarrow ocean in Moklen 8	3
Table 5. Gill-net in Moklen/Moken 8	3
Table 6. Hearth on boat in Moklen/Moken 8	;
Table 7. Fishtrap in Moklen/Moken 8	3
Table 8. 'Bracelet' in Moklen/Moken 8	3
Table 9. Vezo fish names and their corresponding Malayopolynesian etymologies 9)

FIGURES

Figure 1. The Samalic languages	5
Figure 2. Schematic model of trade mosaic in the trans-Isthmian region	12

PHOTOS

Photo 1. Orang Laut settlement in Riau	5
Photo 2. River trading boats at Banjarmasin	10
Photo 3. Hoklo traders in front of Xiamen	11

MAPS

Map 1. Distribution of languages spoken by SE Asian sea nomads	4
Map 2. The Vezo hypothesis	10

ABSTRACT

Sea nomadism is a unique and characteristic subsistence strategy in island SE Asia reflecting a confluence of sophisticated maritime technology and resources scattered across thousands of islands. The languages of the sea nomads in Island SE Asia fall into three major groups, Samalic or Sama-Bajaw, the Orang Laut of Eastern Sumatra and the Riau islands, and the Moken/Moklen complex of the Andaman Sea, west of Thailand and Myanmar. All of these are Austronesian, the great phylum of languages which originated in Taiwan more than five thousand years ago. Less well understood are the river nomads of Borneo and the 'sea peoples' of the China coast, although the Borneo peoples spring from the same upsurge of mercantile innovation as their seagoing cousins. However, the Chinese groups seem to have limited interchange with the ISEA networks and presumably have a quite different origin. Today they speak no unusual languages, but the antiquity of cross-straits interaction argues that their roots may well lie far in the past.

The overall conclusion is that while archaeology suggests some type of maritime nomadic lifestyle may well reach back to deep antiquity in ISEA, language data shows that its modern forms are unlikely to be more than 2000 years old (in the case of Moken/Moklen) and more recent still for the other groups. This in turn suggests a replacement model; old networks were erased by the growth of new and similarly earlier sea nomads assimilated by more competitive newcomers.

Keywords: Island SE Asia; sea nomads; languages; Sama-Bajaw; Moken/Moklen

ACRONYMS

ACD	Austronesian Comparative Dictionary
BP	Before present
PAN	Proto-Austronesian
PMP	Proto-Malayopolynesian
SCSIS	South China Sea Interaction Sphere

1. Introduction

Sea nomadism is a unique and characteristic subsistence strategy in island SE Asia reflecting a confluence of sophisticated maritime technology and resources scattered across thousands of islands (Yesner 1980). Nomadic pastoralism on land is a response to patchy and ephemeral grazing resources. In the same way, sea nomads can respond to mobile maritime resources and a changing market and exchange environment, which requires the flexible transport of goods. We do not know if the practice of sea nomadism in ISEA evolved once or many times. There are archaeological reasons for thinking inter-island movement of resources may be as old as 20,000 years in the region in the Talaud islands (Ono et al. 2010). Blench (in press a) has termed this the 'South China Sea Interaction Sphere' to try and capture the intensity of commercial interaction over millennia and the exchange of goods, languages and cultural practice (see also Acri et al. 2017). One of the clues to the origins of sea nomad populations in the Southeast Asian region are the languages they speak.

This paper¹ presents an overview of what is known about these languages and what historical conclusions can be drawn from this. It focuses in particular on Samalic, both because it is the most widespread and internally ramified of the three major subsets, and because it is implicated in one of the most striking migrations of ISEA peoples, the colonisation of Madagascar. Although there is now a fair amount of descriptive material on the languages of sea nomads, so far there has been only very limited ethnolinguistic analysis. For example, we do not know whether some of the specialised technologies, such as techniques of fishing and fish preservation, have distinctive terminologies, or simply borrow from major languages.

Two further issues are highlighted in the classification of maritime peoples; the inclusion of the Tanka, and other coastal traders of the China coast, and the inland river traders who traverse the river systems in the interior of Borneo. The paper also suggests that the Vezo, a people on the coast of southern Madagascar who practice extensive maritime migrations may well result from a separate migration, distinct from the Barito/Malay ships which are the principal source of the dominant Malagasy language. Whatever the antiquity of the subsistence practices, sea peoples languages turn out to be in a close relationship with dominant regional languages such as Malay and not marginal languages with substrates of hard to identify lexicon (although Duano constitutes a partial exception). This suggests that the present groups evolved in symbiosis with the great trading cultures of the region.

2. The broad picture

The languages of the sea nomads in Island SE Asia fall into three major groups, Samalic or Sama-Bajaw, the Orang Laut between Eastern Sumatra and the Riau islands, and the Moken/Moklen complex of the Andaman Sea, west of Thailand and Myanmar (Sopher 1977). All of these are Austronesian, the great phylum of languages which originated in Taiwan more than five thousand years ago. Map 1 shows the approximate distribution of these groups, with the caveat that highly mobile people can touch many islands outside their normal zone of migration. The possibility that the Vezo people of Southern Madagascar should be included in this grouping is envisaged in the map. Table 1 summarises the linguistic affiliations of sea nomad populations;

Category	Location	Linguistic Classification
Samalic	Scattered from Sulu throughout Eastern	Subgroup of Greater Barito
	Indonesia	
Orang Laut	Between the Riau islands and the East	Malay dialects
	Coast of Sumatra	
Urak Lawoi	Andaman Sea, West of Thailand	Malay dialect
Moken/Moklen	Andaman Sea, West of Thailand	Malayic or parallel branch
Vezo	Southern Madagascar	Malagasy, part of Greater Barito

Table 1.	Linguistic	affiliation	of sea	nomad	populations

¹ Some sections of this paper were presented in Paris at EURASEAA XV, in July 2015, but for the most part it is newly written for this book. Particular thanks to Karl Anderbeck for reading the first version and saving me from a major error.





All these languages are Austronesian and part of the broad category of Western Malayo-Polynesian, which includes most of island SE Asia. Malayo-Polynesian is a somewhat unsatisfactory subgroup, as it has not proven possible to subgroup it further as it divides into a complex parallel array. This may reflect a pattern of 'explosive dispersal' of early Austronesian languages out of Taiwan something which is also reflected in the archaeology (Spriggs 2011; Blench 2012, 2016).

Malayic, however, is a much smaller grouping, consisting of languages which spread out with the Malay trading empire, generally identified with the expansion of Srivijaya in the 6-7th century (cf. Adelaar 1992 for a linguistic characterisation). The causes of this expansion remain controversial, but increased access to improved maritime technology was clearly a factor. The fact that the languages of sea nomads are all associated with a relatively small area of ISEA, SE Borneo and adjacent waters, is clearly significant.

3. The Samalic [Bajau] languages

The Samal [Sama-Bajaw] peoples speak a cluster of related Austronesian languages, now generally referred to as Samalic. Although the majority of these are in the Philippines, they are not related to the Philippines group of Austronesian but to Borneo languages, in particular the Greater Barito group (Blust 2005). Figure 1 shows a schematic tree of the relationships between the Samalic languages. However, the Sama Bajaw peoples are highly fragmented and those in the sea between NE Borneo and the Sulu archipelago speak languages related in complex, overlapping chains (Mead & Lee 2007).

Their languages are relatively well described with overviews in Pallesen (1985), Mead & Lee (2007) and detailed studies of individual languages such as Verheijen (1986) [Sunda dialects], Akamine (2003) [Sinama], Collins & Collins (2001) [Mapun]. Behrens (2002) [Yakan], Brainard & Behrens (2002) [Yakan], Miller (2007) [West Coast Bajaw]. The Sama-Bajaw are well-known for their lengthy epic recitations, and these have been described in some detail in Zacot (1978) and Nuraini-Grangé (2008). Ethnographic descriptions are also quite abundant, although not all are very reliable (see Nimmo 1972; Sather 1975; Allison 1984).

Despite their strong presence in the Philippines today, the affiliation of Samalic strongly points to a Borneo origin. Pallesen (1985) argued that their genesis may have been as late as the fifteenth century, although the internal diversity of Samalic seems to point to an earlier date. It is striking that some Samalic languages are

spoken by farming populations in the Philippines (Yakan, Mapun and Inabaknon) and it is likely these are settled sea nomads rather than indigenous farmers whose relatives took to the ocean.





Source: Adapted from Pallesen (1985)

It is likely that the genesis of the Samalic peoples is connected with the growth of maritime activity in the area between SE Kalimantan and Sulawesi and thus with the rise of Srivijaya. We know that the voyages which crossed the Indian Ocean and brought about the genesis of Malagasy originated in the same area, and it is likely that the explosion of Samalic reflects the spread of new types of boats, but also the importance of 'feeder' trade, pioneering new sea-routes, discovering sources of raw materials and manufactured goods and building links with fragmented populations around the shores of the numerous islands. The Samal, and elsewhere the Orang Laut, functioned as the antennae of the great Malay trading ships and the two cultures existed in symbiosis. So while it is likely that some form of maritime nomadism existed prior to the rise of the Samal, it was wholly displaced by a modernised combination of foraging and trading over the last millennium.

4. The Orang Laut languages

The Orang Laut languages are spoken in the region between the Riau islands and the west coast of Myanmar, taking in the diverse communities on islands south of Singapore (Map 1). Although the first record of one of these languages was published in the early nineteenth century (Smith et al. 1814), the literature is extremely patchy. Skeat & Ridley (1900) represent a first description of these languages, while Anderbeck (2012) represents

a comprehensive overview of the materials on the languages of the 'Sea Tribes'. He divides these languages into four major subgroups, broadly defined bv geography, Kedah, Duano, Riau and Sekak. His conclusion is that all the records of the Orang Laut languages form a defined subgroup of Malayic, except Duano, which has some





Source: CC

intriguing anomalies.

The Riau Orang Laut/Orang Sawang live on the Riau islands and across to the Straits of Singapore and the east Coast of Sumatra (Photo 1). They have been divided into as many as forty-five groups (Chou 2010: 26) although this is an ethnographic classification, not a linguistic one. The review by Anderbeck (2012) of the scattered linguistic data concludes that the Riau speak a Malayic language, very close to Peninsular Malay and that there is no evidence of a substrate. It is therefore most likely that the Riau developed together with the rise of the Malay trading empire and do not inherit anything from a prior sea nomad culture.

Kedah is the dialect cluster spoken by the Urak Lawoi who live south of the Moken/Moklen and are often grouped with them. However, linguistic data indicate their genetic affiliation with Malayic and show little influence from Austroasiatic (Saengmani 1979; Hogan & Pattemore 1988; Robert 2010). Ethnographically, they have been little studied and the most lengthy piece is hardly more than an account of a visit by tourists (Granbom 2007).

The Duano language [dup] is spoken by approximately 17,500 people, mostly in the coastal region of Riau and Jambi Provinces of Sumatra, but a few on the opposite coast in Johor, Malaysia. Other names for the Duano include *Orang Kuala* (people of the estuaries) and *Desin Dola* ('people of the sea'). The first record of Duano is Schot (1884) and a short unidentified wordlist is included in Skeat & Blagden (1906). Kähler (1946a,b) recorded some hard to interpret material from Rangsang Island. Seidlitz (2007) wrote a phonology of Duano based on material from both sides of the straits. Yusof (2006) [not seen] is an account of language obsolescence among the Duano and Kanak. Sandbukt (1983) is one of the few ethnographic studies of the Duano, focusing on the adaptation of subsistence fisheries to a market economy. Anderbeck (2012) has reviewed this literature and points to the exceptional nature of Duano, which does not share a number of sound changes characteristic of Malayic, as well as having an exceptional proportion of its lexicon from an unknown source. A possible hypothesis to explain this is that the Duano were originally one of the Orang Asli groups of the region, speaking either a now lost but archaic Austronesian language or something else perhaps affiliated to Aslian. Their language has gradually become relexified from Malay, but retains some of its previous phonology and lexicon.

Anderbeck (2012: 274) also highlights the intriguing problem of Jakun, a Malayic language spoken by one of the Orang Asli groups in Johor. The Jakun are not sea people, at least today, but their language shows common innovations with some of the Orang Laut lects. Earlier records of Jakun (in Skeat & Blagden 1906) show a much greater admixture of Aslian (i.e. Austroasiatic) lexicon and it seems credible that the Jakun were originally an Aslian group which has become progressively Malayised over the centuries.

The Sekak group of dialects include those spoken on the islands of Bangka and Belitung [=Loncong] (Nothofer 1994). Of these, the Bangka language is much better described than Loncong. Bangka is the subject of several ethnographic publications, including Anonymous (1862), Hagen (1908), Smedal (1989) and Chou (2003) as well as two linguistic studies (Kähler 1960, 1966; Smedal 1987). By contrast Loncong features only in two much older Dutch-language publications (Ecoma Verstege 1877; Riedel 1881). The Sekak group is severely endangered, with as few as 600 speakers, according to Anderbeck (2012).

5. The Andaman Sea languages

Two languages are spoken by the maritime peoples of the Andaman Sea, the 'Sea Gypsies'. Moklen and Moken are related to one another and ultimately to the Malayic group, either as a member of it or as a parallel branch of Western Malayopolynesian (Chantanakomes 1980; Makboon 1981; Larish 1999, 2005). The Moken/Moklen have been the subject of considerable ethnographic research (Anderson 1890; White 1922; Ivanoff 1997; Larish 1999). Although their lives are based on seagoing vessels, the Moken/Moklen are not wide-ranging traders like the other groups described here, but are confined to a relatively small area, exchanging maritime produce for necessary items¹. Indeed, somewhat surprisingly, the Moklen are sedentary seashore dwellers and land-based hunting plays a significant role in their subsistence.

Chinese records frequently refer to the *Kunlun* 崑崙, the 'sea people' found around ISEA. The problem is that these references are highly inconsistent and are often mixed with descriptions of Africans brought to East Asia via the slave trade (Wilensky 2002). References to dark skins may simply reflect weather exposure, but it is worth noting that the negritos would have been far more numerous in the Malay peninsular at this period and may well have also played a role in the sea trade (see discussion of the Jakun, above). Nonetheless, as Wheatley (1961: 283) observes, *Kunlun* is probably best understood as 'a succession of peoples ranging from Malays around the coasts of the Peninsula to Chams along the shores of Indo-China'.

Estimating the time at which the Moken/Moklen broke from the Malayic stem is far more difficult and Larish (1999) has a lengthy discussion of this issue. He points out that Moken/Moklen has been heavily influenced by Austroasiatic languages (and more recently, Thai). Moken/Moklen has many changes in common with the Chamic languages of Vietnam and that this may point to the split of these two languages from Chamic at around the same period, namely some 2000 years ago. Indeed he goes further to suggest that the Cham-speakers themselves were originally sea-nomads who then settled. This is not impossible, but it would be entirely speculative. The Moken/Moklen split Larish assigns to a much later period, somewhere after the thirteenth century.

Another aspect of understanding the relationship of Moklen/Moken to the broader Austronesian world is their technical vocabulary. The external cognates of Moklen/Moken in relation to fisheries present an intriguing contrast. Because these groups have moved into an entirely new zoogeographic area, the fish fauna is largely unfamiliar or only related to Indo-Pacific species at the genus level. Larish (1999) has a very extensive dataset on both fish names and other fisheries terminology such as traps. Curiously, Blust has not incorporated the Moken/Moklen data into the Austronesian Comparative Dictionary² (ACD) comparative sets, despite the thesis in which they are presented being compiled in Hawai'i.

An exploration of this terminology shows that very few fish names are retained from PMP, whereas many are borrowed from Thai or calqued (i.e. the Thai name is literally translated in Moken/Moklen). The following tables take the Moken/Moklen names given in Larish (1999) and compare them with the reconstructions in the ACD and other data, where available. One of the rare fish names that reflects PMP is the name for the sailfish (*Istiophorus* spp.) as shown in Table 2.

Language	Form	Gloss
Moklen/Moken	*l/nayan	Istiophorus gradius
PAN	*layaR	sail
Fijian	saku layar	sawfish

This word has a rather tangled history, since the PAN reconstruction is for 'sail' and yet the forms for 'sailfish, swordfish' seem to reflect a prior form such as the Fijian, which by the later period is applied to any large predatory species, including the swordfish.

Another intriguing case is the big-eye scad, *Selar crumenophthalmus*, which is found throughout the region. The ACD gives this as PMP although only three forms support a reconstruction at this level. However, the Thai forms also resemble the Austronesian closely, and are etymologisable, suggesting this may be an early borrowing *into* Austronesian. The Moklen/Moken is probably not a direct cognate of the Austronesian forms but a calque from the Thai (Table 3).

² http://www.trussel2.com/acd

Langu		Form		Gloss
Mokler	n/Moken	ma ³² .ta:? ⁴⁴	a^{32} da a^{343}	big-eye scad lit. 'eye big'
PMP			*qatulay	Trachurops crumenophthalmus
Samal			tulay	Selar crumenophthalmus
Thai			pla ta: lɔ:	big-eye scad lit. 'fish eye big'

Table 3. Big-eye scad in Moklen/Moken

By contrast, Table 4, Table 5, Table 6 and Table 7 show the Moklen/Moken reflexes of mainstream Austronesian lexemes to do with the sea and fisheries, which seem to be inherited entirely regularly.

Table 4. Lake \rightarrow ocean	in	Moklen
-----------------------------------	----	--------

Language	Form	Gloss
Moklen	ta?aw	ocean
PAN	*danaw	lake
PMP	*danaw	lake
Proto-Chamic	*danau	lake
Malay	danaw	lake

Table 5. Gill-net in Moklen/Moken

Language	Form	Gloss
Moklen/Moken	*pukat	gill net
PMP	*puket	dragnet
Malay	*pukat	drift-net

Table 6. Hearth on boat in Moklen/Moken

Language	Form	Gloss
Moklen/Moken	*dapan	fireplace in boat
PMP	*dapuR	hearth
Malay	dapur	kitchen
Acehnese	dapu	kitchen

Table 7. Fishtrap in Moklen/Moken

Language	Form	Gloss
Moklen/Moken	*bubəy	fishtrap
PAN	*bubu	conical bamboo basket trap for fish
Kavalan	bubu	fishtrap
Malay	bubu	fishtrap

Clues to some of the trade goods the Moklen/Moken may have handled are to be found in words such 'bracelet/brass' (Table 8).

Table 8. 'Bracelet' in Moklen/Moken

Language	Form	Gloss
Moklen/Moken	*gila:ŋ/ŋila:ŋ	bracelet/brass
Acehnese	geleŋ	bracelet
Proto-Chamic	*ko:ŋ	bracelet/brass/copper
Proto-Katuic	*kəŋ	$bracelet \sim brass$
Proto-Bahnaric	*kəəŋ	bracelet

This word has no reconstruction in Austronesian and it appears these brass goods must have been traded in the region between the Austroasiatic speakers on the mainland, the Chamic speakers and eventually the Moklen/Moken.

6. The Vezo hypothesis

The Vezo people live on the south coast of Madagascar and practice seasonal migration in search of fish (Koechlin 1975; Astuti 1995; Sanders 2005). The Vezo spend many months a year at sea, living on sandbanks and fishing. Dahl (1988) argued for a link between the Vezo and the Sama-Bajaw languages, indeed that the name 'Vezo' was a phonological transformation of Bajaw. There is no direct linguistic evidence in basic vocabulary for a connection between Vezo and Bajaw. However, it is very striking that Vezo marine fish names are very different from other Malagasy names, although they resemble those of their neighbours, the Antanosy (Bauchot & Bianchi 1984; Poirot 2011). Given that Vezo is generally close linguistically to Merina, this is quite surprising and may point to a distinct origin for their fishing culture. To approach this, Table 9 presents a brief list of Vezo fish names and their likely origins in ISEA languages.

Vezo	English	Latin	Commentary
akio foty	requiem shark	Carcharhinus sp.	Almost all Austronesian languages have lost the initial velar, which is retained only in Agutaynen <i>kiw</i> , Komodo <i>kiu</i>
aloalo	barracuda	Sphyraena barracuda	Also other <i>Sphyraena</i> spp. The reduplicated form could be a direct Malay borrowing: ikan alu alu <i>Sphyraena obtusata</i> (same species is known to the Vezo)
fay andema	stingray	Dasyatis sp.	cf. Borneo languages, e.g. Bintulu, Melanau <i>pai</i> <wmp *<i="">pariH</wmp>
gepo	herring	<i>Herklotsichthys</i> sp.	cf. Gela <i>kepo</i> , <i>Herklotsichthys quadrimaculatus</i> , fourspot herring. Ross et al. (2011) reconstruct POc * <i>kep</i> ^w a Clupeidae, but this suggests that the form goes higher in the Austronesian tree and this species is the referent.
hatoka tendro	torpedo scad	Megalaspis cordyla	cf. PMP *qatulay a fish: the big-eyed scad <i>Trachurops</i> <i>crumenophthalmus</i> Samal <i>tulay</i> scad-like fish: <i>Selar</i> <i>crumenophthalmus</i> . This is one of the rare examples, where Vezo connects directly with Samal. Other cognates are (curiously) in Oceanic and Chamorro
lamera, lamahira	moray eel	Echidna spp.	POc has * <i>maraya</i> for 'eel' but typical attestations are Raga <i>marea</i> (generic eel). However, Micronesian languages such as Carolinian <i>(li)mware-mwar</i> 'white or yellow eel with black banded stripes' have a li- prefix denoting (at least in Puluwatese 'bird, fish, eels'. Could the la- prefixes in Vezo reflect this?
lovo hara	marbled grouper	Epinephelus polypheakadion	cf. Longgu yulava 'Cephalopholis argus, peacock rock cod' Teop rovu 'rock cod generic'
talantala	small- spotted pompano	Trachinotus bailloni	? pompanos are usually <i>Alectis</i> spp. <i>talatala</i> is usually for the queenfish, <i>Scomberoides commersonnianus</i> or the needlescaled queenfish, <i>Scomberoides tol</i> . ACD has PWMP * <i>talaŋtalaŋ</i> for horse mackerel although given the vague definition in the sources, this could be a wide variety of spp.
varavara	blackspot snapper	Lutjanus fulviflammus	Hebert (1964) notes the Vezo name and compares with Malay <i>babaran</i> , <i>poisson à ecailles</i> .
vavana voavoa	sawfish Indo- pacific tarpon	Megalops cyprinoides	cf. Malay <i>bambanan</i> . NB FAO (1984) gives <i>bekapoka</i> . poss. WMP <i>bulanbulan</i> which certainly looks cognate with <i>bokalana</i>

Table 9. Vezo fish names and their corresponding Malayopolynesian etymologies



Roger Blench Linguistic context of SE Asian sea peoples

It certainly would not be unreasonable to imagine the Bajaw, following the route pioneered by the Malay ships, reaching Madagascar independently. However, this hypothesis needs more positive linguistic evidence before it can be accepted uncritically. Map 2 shows a possible route for a Bajaw migration to Madagascar.

7. Should we include river nomads?

Apart from sea nomads, very large islands such as Borneo create opportunities for a comparable lifestyle on inland rivers. At Banjarmasin in SE Borneo, many permanent houseboats carry trade goods up and down the rivers from the coast to the interior (Photo 2). The peoples operating these boats are also from the same 'Greater Barito' group as the Samalic languages and the Barito who are the core population of Madagascar. It is likely that this adaptation came about at the same period and for similar reasons as the evolution of the Sama-Bajaw.



Photo 2. River trading boats at Banjarmasin

8. Boat-people along the coast of China

Apart from the sea peoples of ISEA, there have also been coastal fishing and trading groups along the coast of SE China for a long period (Anderson 1972). The best known of these are the Tanka (*Dànjiā* <u>鑑</u>家) now replaced in official sources by *shuĭshàng rén*, 水上人 ('on-water people'), and the Hoklo (Hok-ló 福佬).

The Tanka today speak Cantonese, but historic sources suggest that they originated among the Mien (Yao), which would account for earlier reports that they spoke a quite different language. The Tanka are distributed across a wide area and are also a recognised minority in Vietnam, where they are called *Dàn*. The Hoklo speak the Hokkien dialect of Min. Both these peoples are very numerous by the standards of ISEA, but the great majority no longer practice a maritime lifestyle. Indeed the Hoklo played a major role in the genesis of the Chinese population of modern-day Taiwan.

There is very little reliable historiography of these peoples, as much of the literature is mixed up with speculation on their relationship with the Ba Yue of Chinese records. Their languages do not provide significant clues today. Nonetheless, a minority still operate from houseboats, and are still fully engaged in a maritime lifestyle in the modern era (Photo 3). Modernised fisheries have largely displaced their role as fishermen, but trading is clearly an effective substitute. To what extent their network was entirely separate from the ISEA sea peoples

Photo 3. Hoklo traders in front of Xiamen



remains an open question. However, the peopling of Taiwan is clearly associated with a thriving cross-straits traffic in raw materials and an energetic regional network so it would not be unreasonable to push back this type of subsistence to an early period (Blench, in press, b).

9. Historical interpretation

The first conclusion that can be drawn from this review of the languages of sea nomads of ISEA is that none of them are in any way unusual in terms of genetic affiliation. All the languages are part of mainstream subgroups of Austronesian, Malayic or Greater Barito. This strongly suggests that, unlike marginal foragers in other parts of the world, the evolution of sea-nomad society is tied to historical events over the last two thousand years. How can this be interpreted in the light of long-term archaeological evidence for intensive traffic between islands in the region and regional exchange networks?

The answer may be that technological and mercantile innovation was a force sufficiently powerful to completely replace the more informal, dispersed and linguistically diverse networks that previously existed. We know that Malayic spreads out from Borneo, and that trading networks developed rapidly. It has been suggested above that the Samalic languages reflect an expansion from the same area, probably using the same type of boats and feeding local trade items into the Malay network. This almost certainly was initiated with the growth of the Srivijaya trading empire from the 6-7th century onwards. The evolution of mercantile sea-traders did not end with the Samal. Later groups such as the Buginese and Makassarese of Sulawesi (who probably originate as a distinct identity in the 16th century) also serviced the commercial networks although they remained more obviously land-based.

Very intriguing is the possibility that the relationship between the shore hunter-gatherers, the sea nomads and long-distance merchants played a role in the evolution of the trans-Isthmian trade. The movement of Indian Ocean goods to the South China Sea can be shortened considerably by making use of land routes across the isthmus of Kra. Archaeological excavation has focused on the narrowest point, illustrated by the excavations at Khao San Kheo (Bellina & Silapanth 2006; Bellina-Pryce & Silapanth 2006; Bellina-Pryce this volume). However, in a complex region such as this, there would probably many strategies both to cross and circumnavigate the isthmus. Larish (1999) has proposed that the Moken/Moklen evolved as facilitators of the trans-Isthmian trade. He says;

'Various lines of evidence support the possibility that the Moken/Moklen represent a remnant population of a once larger and more widely distributed -possibly trans-Isthmian- PMM ancestral population. The PMM may have established on the early Peninsular politico-cultural zones... or were

possibly vassals to one of the ethnolinguistic groups that dominated these areas. Most importantly, present-day speakers of Moken and Moklen are found distributed at the coastal endpoints of four separate trans-isthmian routeways.'

The evidence from the Jakun and Duano allow us to expand this hypothesis. Prior to the expansion of Malayic, the region must have been occupied by a complex mosaic of fishing peoples, sea traders and landbased foragers. As the potential for long-distance trade expanded, demand for food and forest products, as well as labour and construction, allowed these groups to develop more specialised and formalised niches. The Orang Asli foragers and fishers supplied the local produce and the Orang Laut facilitated local movement of goods and services, feeding the long-distance trade. The model is schematically represented in Figure 2



Figure 2. Schematic model of trade mosaic in the trans-Isthmian region

Over time, the constant interaction with Malay culture gradually relexified these divergent speech communities until they 'became' Malay, with their language only containing scattered pointers to their original speech community.

The peopling of Madagascar also occurs during this significant period, apparently in Malay-captained ships with Barito-speaking crews (Blench 2010). The Malagasy language also contains a significant Sulawesi component (Blench in press b), arguing for interaction across the islands, something which appears to be confirmed in the genetics (Ricaut & Kusuma this volume). The possibility that the Vezo result from an independent migration of a Samalic group using a route already pioneered should be considered.

Less well documented are the river nomads of Borneo and the 'sea peoples' of the China coast. There is reason to believe the Borneo peoples spring from the same upsurge of mercantile innovation as their seagoing cousins. However, the Chinese groups seem to have limited interaction with the ISEA networks and presumably have a quite different origin. Today they speak no unusual languages, but the antiquity of cross-straits interaction argues that their roots may well lie far in the past.

The overall conclusion is that while archaeology suggests some type of maritime nomadic lifestyle may well reach back to deep antiquity in ISEA, language data shows that its modern forms are unlikely to be more than 2000 years old (in the case of Moken/Moklen) and more recent still for the other groups. This in turn suggests a replacement model; old networks were erased by the growth of new and similarly earlier sea nomads assimilated by more competitive newcomers.

References

- Acri, Andrea, Roger M. Blench & Alix Landmann 2017. Introduction: reconnecting histories across the Indo-Pacific. In: Spirits & Ships: cultural transfers in early monsoon Asia. In: Andrea Acri, Roger Blench & Alix Landmann eds. 1-37. Singapore: ISEAS.
- Adelaar, K. Alexander. 1992. Proto-Malayic; The reconstruction of its phonology and parts of its lexicon and morphology. [Pacific Linguistics C-119.] Canberra: Australian National University.
- Akamine, Jun 2003. A Basic Grammar of Southern Sinama. (ELPR A3-012, A3-012.) Osaka Gakuin University, Japan: Endangered Languages of the Pacific Rim, Faculty of Informatics.
- Allison, Karen J. 1984. *A view from the islands: The Samal of Tawi-tawi*. International Museum of Cultures Publication, 15. Dallas: International Museum of Cultures.
- Anderbeck, Karl 2012. The Malayic-speaking; Orang Laut Dialects and directions for research. *Wacana*, 14(2): 265-312.
- Anderson, E.N. 1972. Essays on South China's boat people (Vol. 29). Taipei: Orient Cultural Service.
- Anderson, John 1890. The Selungs of the Mergui Archipelago. London: Trübner &Co.
- Anonymous 1862. De orang Lom of Belom op het eiland Banka. *Tijdschrift voor Indische Taal-, Land- en Volkenkunde*, XI:388-394.
- Arnaud, Véronique, Henri Campagnolo & Christian Pelras 1997. Lexique thématique plurilingue de trentesix langues et dialectes d'Asia du Sud-Est insulaire [Thematic multilingual lexicon of thirty-six languages]. (Recherches Asiatiques). Paris: L'Harmattan.
- Astuti, Rita 1995. People of the sea: identity and descent among the Vezo of Madagascar. Cambridge studies in social & cultural anthropology (95). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press,
- Bauchot, M-L. & G. Bianchi 1984. Guide de poissons commerciaux de Madagascar (espèces marines et d'eaux saumâtres). Rome : FAO.
- Behrens, Dietlinde 2002. Yakan-English dictionary. Linguistic Society of the Philippines, Special Monograph Issue, 40.
- Bellina, B. and Silapanth, P. 2006. Khao Sam Kaeo and the Upper Thai-Malay Peninsula: Understanding the Mechanisms of Early Trans-Asiatic Trade and Cultural Exchange. In Uncovering Southeast Asia's Past: Selected Papers from the 10th International Conference of the European Association of Southeast Asian Archaeologists, ed. Bacus, A. E., Glover, I. C. and Pigott, V. C., 379–392. Singapore: National University of Singapore Press.
- Bellina-Pryce, B. and Silapanth, P. 2006. Weaving Cultural Identities on Trans-Asiatic Networks: Upper Thai-Malay Peninsula – An Early Socio-political Landscape. Bulletin de l'École Française d'Êxtreme-Orient 93: 257–93.
- Blench, Roger M. 2010. New evidence for the Austronesian impact on the East African coast. In: *Global origins and the development of seafaring*. Atholl Anderson, J.H. Barrett & K.V. Boyle eds. 239-248. Cambridge: Macdonald Institute.
- Blench, Roger M. 2012. Almost everything you believed about the Austronesians isn't true. In: Crossing Borders: Selected Papers from the 13th International Conference of the European Association of Southeast Asian Archaeologists, Volume 1. Editors: Dominik Bonatz, Andreas Reinecke & Mai Lin Tjoa-Bonatz. Singapore: NUS Press.
- Blench, Roger M. 2016. Splitting Up Proto-Malayopolynesian; New Models of Dispersals from Taiwan. In: Austronesian diaspora: a new perspective. Bagyo Prasetyo, Titi Surti Nastiti, Truman Simanjuntak eds. 77-104. Jakarta: Gadjah Mada University Press.
- Blench, Roger M. 2017. Ethnographic and archaeological correlates for an MSEA linguistic area. In: Spirits & Ships: cultural transfers in early monsoon Asia. Andrea Acri, Roger Blench & Alix Landmann eds. 207-238. Singapore: ISEAS.
- Blench, Roger M. in press a. Restructuring our understanding of the South China Sea interaction sphere: the evidence from multiple disciplines. In: *Taiwan Maritime Landscapes from Neolithic to Early Modern Times: Cross-Regional Perspectives*. Paola Calanca & Frank Muyard eds. Taiwan: Academica Sinica.
- Blench, Roger M. in press b. Interdisciplinary approaches to stratifying the peopling of Madagascar. In: *Proceedings of the Indian Ocean Conference, Madison, Wisconsin*. Akshay Sarathi ed. Oxford: Archaeopress.

- Blust, Robert 2005. The linguistic macrohistory of the Philippines. In: Hsiu-chuan Liao and Carl R. Galvez Rubino eds. Current Issues in Philippine Linguistics and Anthropology Parangal kay Lawrence A. Reid. 31–68. Manila: SIL.
- Brainard, Sherri and Dietlinde Behrens 2002. A Grammar of Yakan. Manila: Linguistic Society of the Philippines, No. 40.
- Chantanakomes, Veena 1980. A Description of Moken: A Malay-Polynesian Language. MA thesis Mahidol University.
- Chou, Cynthia 2003. Indonesian Sea Nomads: Money, Magic, and Fear of the Orang Suku Laut. Leiden, London and New York: International Institute for Asian Studies and RoutledgeCurzon.
- Chou, Cynthia 2010. The Orang Suku Laut of Riau, Indonesia: the inalienable gift of territory. London: Routledge.

Collins, Millard A. and Collins, Virginia R. 2001. Mapun-English dictionary. Manila: SIL.

- Dahl, O.Ch. 1988. Bantu Substratum in Malagasy. In: *Linguistique de Madagascar et des Comores. Etudes Océan Indien*, 9: 91-132.
- Ecoma Verstege, Ch. M. G. A. M. 1877. Bijzonderheden over de Sekah bevolking van Billiton. *Tijdschrift* voor Indische Taal-, Land- en Volkenkunde, XXIV:201-211.
- Granbom, Ann-Charlotte 2007. Urak Lawoi: sea nomads in Andaman Sea. Lund: Sociologiska institutionen, Lunds universitet.
- Hagen, B. 1908. Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Orang Sekka (Sakai) oder Orang Laut, sowie der Orang Lom oder Mapor, zweier nichtmuhamedanischer Volksstämme auf Insel Banka. In: *Abhandlungen zur anthropologie, ethnologie, und Urgeschichte*, 37-46. Frankfurt am Main: Josef Baer &Co.
- Hogan, David W. and Pattemore, Stephen W. 1988. Urak Lawoi': basic structures and a dictionary. (Pacific Linguistics : Series C, Books, 109.) Canberra: Pacific Linguistics.
- Hogan, David. 1972. Men of the sea: coastal tribes of South Thailand's west coast. Journal of the Siam Society 60. 205–235.
- Ivanoff, Jacques 1997. Moken: sea-gypsies of the Andaman Sea: post-war chronicles. Bangkok, Thailand: White Lotus Press.
- Kähler, Hans 1946a. Ethnographische und linguistische studien von den Orang Laut auf der Insel Rangsang an der Ostküste von Sumatra. *Anthropos* 41/44(1/3). 1–31.
- Kähler, Hans 1946b. Ethnographische und linguistische studien von den Orang Laut auf der Insel Rangsang an der Ostküste von Sumatra. *Anthropos* 41/44(4/6). 757–785.
- Kähler, Hans 1960. Ethnographische und Linguistiche Studien über die Orang Darat, Orang Akit, Orang Laut und Orang Utan im Riau-Archipel und auf den Inseln an du Ostküste von Sumatra. Berlin: Verlag von Dietrich Reimar.
- Kähler, Hans 1966. *Wörterverzeichnis des Omong Jakarta*. Veröffentlichen des Seminars für Indonesische und Südseesprachen der Universität Hamburg, 5. Berlin: Dietrich Reimer.
- Koechlin, Bernard 1975. Les Vezo du Sud-Ouest de Madagascar. Contribution à l'étude de l'éco-système de semi-nomades marins, Paris/La Haye, Mouton.
- Larish, Michael David 1999. The Position of Moken and Moklen within the Austronesian Language Family (Thailand). University of Hawai'I at Manoa. Ann Arbor: UMI.
- Larish, Michael David 2005. Moken and Moklen. In: *The Austronesian languages of Asia and Madagascar*. Adelaar & Himmelmann, eds. 513-533. London: Routledge.<u>1</u>
- Makboon, Sorat 1981. Survey of Sea peoples dialects along the West Coast of Thailand. MA thesis, University of Bangkok.
- Mead, David and Myung-young Lee 2007. *Mapping Indonesian Bajau Communities in Sulawesi*. SIL Electronic Survey Reports 2007-019.
- Miller, Mark 2007. A grammar of West Coast Bajau. PhD. University of Texas at Arlington.
- Nimmo, H. Arlo 1972. The sea people of Sulu. London: Intertext Books.
- Nothofer, Bernd 1994. Bahasa Lom: Dari mana asalnya?. In Liberty P. Sihombing (ed.), Bahasawan Cendekia: seuntai karangan untuk Anton M. Moeliono, 193-208. Jakarta: PT Intermasa.
- Nuraini-Grangé, Chandra 2008. Langue et production de récits d'une communauté Bajo des îles Kangean (Indonésie). PhD. La Rochelle: University de La Rochelle.
- Ono, Rintaro, Santoso Soegondho and Minoru Yoneda 2010. Changing Marine Exploitation During Late Pleistocene in Northern Wallacea: Shell Remains from Leang Sarru Rockshelter in Talaud Islands. Asian Perspectives, 48(2): 318-341.

- Pallesen, A. Kemp 1985. *Culture contact and language convergence*. (Philippine journal of linguistics : special monograph issue, 24.) Manila: Linguistic Society of the Philippines.
- Poirot, G. 2011. *Dictionnaire vezo-français suivi d'un index français-vezo*. Published privately and distributed by ShopMyBook [Belgium][www. unibook. com].
- Riedel, J. G. F. 1881. Twee volksverhalen in het dialekt der Orang Lawoet of Orang Sekah van Belitoeng. *Tijdschrift voor Indische Taal-, Land- en Volkenkunde*, 26:264-273.
- Robert, Chongkit Sripun 2010. *Changes in patterns of communication of the Urak Lawoi*. Madison: University of Wisconsin, Madison. PhD dissertation.
- Ross, M.D., Pawley, A. and Osmond, M. eds. 2011. *The Lexicon of Proto Oceanic: The Culture and Environment of Ancestral Oceanic Society. Animals.* Canberra: Pacific Linguistics.
- Saengmani, Amon 1979. *Phonology of the Urak Lawoi' language: Adang Island*. Bangkok: Mahidol University M.A. thesis.
- Sandbukt, Ø. 1983. Duano littoral fishing: adaptive strategies within a market economy. PhD. University of Cambridge.
- Sanders, E.F. 2005. Fombandrazana Vezo: ethnic identity and subsistence strategies among coastal fishers of western Madagascar. Ph.D. University of Georgia.
- Sather, Clifford 1975. The Bajau Laut: Adaptation, history, and fate in a maritime fishing society of southeastern Sabah. Kuala Lumpur: Oxford University Press.
- Schot, J.G. 1884. Het stroomgebied der Kateman; Bijdrage tot de kennis von Oost Sumatra. *Tijdschrift voor Indische Taal-, Land- en Volkenkunde*, 29:555-581.
- Seidlitz, Eric 2007. Duano: a first look at its phonology. In: Chong Shin, Karim Harun & Yabit Alas (eds.), *Reflections in Southeast Asian seas: essays in honour of professor James T. Collins*, vol. Book II, 23–49. Pontianak: STAIN Pontianak Press.
- Skeat, Walter William & Charles Otto Blagden 1906. Pagan races of the Malay peninsula. London: Macmillan and Co.
- Skeat, Walter William & H.N. Ridley 1900. The Orang Laut of Singapore. Journal of the Straits Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, 33-34: 247–250.
- Smedal, Olaf H. 1987. Lom-Indonesian-English and English-Lom wordlists. (NUSA, 28/29.) Jakarta: Universitas Atma Jaya.
- Smedal, Olaf H. 1989. Order and Difference: An Ethnographic Study of Orang Lom of Bangka, West Indonesia. Occasional Papers in Social Anthropology, 19. Oslo: Department of Social Anthropology, University of Oslo.
- Smith, Sydney, Macvey Napier & William Empson 1814. History and languages of the Indian islands (review of Marsden's grammar and dictionary of the Malayan language). The Edinburgh Review: Or Critical Journal 23(45): 151–189.
- Sopher, David E. 1977. The sea nomads; A study based on the literature of the maritime boat people of Southeast Asia. Singapore: National Museum.
- Spriggs, Matthew T.J. 2011. Archaeology and the Austronesian expansion: where are we now? *Antiquity*, 85: 510–528.
- Steinhauer, Hein 2008. On the development of Urak Lawoi' Malay. Wacana 10(1): 117-143.
- Suwardi 1993. Bahasa Melayu suku asli di Riau: satu tinjauan linguistik historis komparatif. *Dewan Bahasa* 37(2):128–147.
- Verheijen, Jilis A.J. 1986. *The Sama/Bajau Language in the Lesser Sunda Islands*. (Pacific Linguistics: Series D, 70.) Canberra: Research School of Pacific and Asian Studies, Australian National University.
- Wheatley, Paul 1961. The Golden Khersonese: Studies in the historical geography of the Malay Peninsula before AD 1500. Kuala Lumpur: University of Malaya Press.
- White, Walter Grainge 1922. The sea gypsies of Malaya: an account of the nomadic Mawken people of the Mergui archipelago with a description of their ways of living, customs, habits, boats, occupations. London: Seeley, Service & Co.
- Wilensky, Julie 2002. The Magical Kunlun and" Devil Slaves": Chinese Perceptions of Dark-skinned People and Africa Before 1500. Sino-Platonic Papers No. 122. Department of Asian and Middle Eastern Studies, University of Pennsylvania.
- Yesner, David R. 1980. Maritime Hunter-Gatherers: Ecology and Prehistory. *Current Anthropology*, 21: 727–750.

- Yusof, Mohd. Sharifudin. 2006. Obsolesensi dan kenazakan bahasa Orang Melayu Proto; Kajian sosiologi bahasa terhadap dialek Duano dan dialek Kanaq di Johor. PhD thesis, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia. [not seen]
- Zacot, Francois 1978. The Voice of the Bajo People. In Proceedings: Second International Conference on Austronesian Linguistics, Vol. 1: Western Austronesian, Pacific Linguistics, Series C, no. 61, ed. S.A. Wurm and L. Carrington. 665-78. Canberra: The Australian National University Research School of Pacific Studies.